1 OCAHO 48

UNI TED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTI CE
EXECUTI VE OFFI CE FOR | MM GRATI ON REVI EW
CFFI CE OF THE CH EF ADM NI STRATI VE HEARI NG OFFI CER

United States of Anmerica, Conplainant v. Big Bear
Respondent; 8 U.S.C. 8§ 1324a Proceedi ng; Case No. 88100038.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Appear ances

. I nt roducti on
l. Stat ement of facts
|

|
|
I1l1. Discussion

A The notice issue
B. Al l egations in the conplaint included
among those in the prior citation
C. Duty to conply with enpl oynent
verification requirenents
1. Reasonable tine to conply
2. Conpl i ance as of the date of
t he December 11, 1987 inspection
D. The constitutionality issue
V. Civil rmoney penalties
V. Utimate, findings, conclusions and order

285

Mar ket ,

17
20
20
27
29

31
33



1 OCAHO 48
UNI TED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTI CE

EXECUTI VE OFFI CE FOR | MM GRATI ON REVI EW
CFFI CE OF THE CH EF ADM NI STRATI VE HEARI NG OFFI CER

United States of Anerica, Conpl ai nant  v. Big Bear Market,
Respondent; 8 U.S.C. § 1324a Proceedi ng; Case No. 88100038.

DECI SI ON AND ORDER

MARVIN H MORSE, Adninistrative Law Judge

Appear ances: ALAN S. RABINONTZ, Esq., and DEBORAH S. NORDSTROM
Esq.. for the Immgration and Naturalization Service.

JAMES S. MUNAK, Esq.. for the respondent.

l. | nt r oducti on

The I nmmigration Reformand Control Act of 1986 (I RCA), Pub. L. No.
99-603, 100 Stat. 3359 (Novenber 6, 1986) at section 101, enacting
section 274A of the Immigration and Nationality Act of 1952 as anended
(INA, or the Act), 8 U S C § 1324a, adopted significant revisions in
national policy on illegal immgration. IRCA introduced civil and
crimnal penalties for violation of prohibitions against enploynent in
the United States of unauthorized aliens; civil penalties are authorized
when an enmployer is found to have violated the prohibitions against
unl awf ul enmpl oynent and/or has failed to observe recordkeeping
verification requirements in the admnistration of the enpl oyer sanctions
program

Title 8 U S.C. section 1324a(b)(1)(A) provides that an enployer is
liable for failure to attest ““on a formdesignated or established by the
Attorney Ceneral by regulation, that it has verified that the individual
is not an unauthorized alien. . . .'" The term " “individual'' neans a
putative enployee. Title 8 U S.C. section 1324a(b)(2) requires that the
i ndi vidual attest, under penalty of perjury, on the sane verification
formas to his or her enploynent authorization. Title 8 U S.C. section
1324a(b)(3) sets forth retention and availability for inspection
requi rements for the verification form The | mm gration and
Naturalization Service (INS, Service, or governnent), as the del egatee
of the Attorney General, has designated, by regu-

286



1 OCAHO 48

lation at 8 CF.R 8§ 274a.2(a), Form1-9 as the Enploynent Eligibility
Verification Form to be used by enployers in conplying with IRCA s
verification requirenents.

| RCA exenpted from the coverage of enployer sanctions those
enpl oyees who are "~ “grandfathered,'' i.e., those who were hired bhefore
the date of enactnent [Novenber 6, 1986], and whose enpl oynent conti nued
subsequent to that date. See IRCA § 101(a)(3), 100 Stat. 3359, at 3372
8 US.C. 8§ 1324a (note); see also 8 CF.R § 274a.7(a).

In recognition of the significant inpact | RCA m ght be expected to
have upon the national work place, and the need for public education
concerning its provisions, during the first full six (6) nonths follow ng
enactnent no enforcenent action was pernmitted to take place, 8 U S.C §
1324a(i)(1). During the subsequent twelve (12) nonths, June 1, 1987
t hrough May 31, 1988, no enforcenment action was pernitted to occur for
a first violation. Instead, as to any particular enployer, it was
required during the year ended My 31, 1988, that there first be a
““citation'' to the effect that the Attorney General (or his del egatee)
““has reason to believe that the person or entity nmay have violated .

"' the enpl oyer sanctions provisions. 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(i)(2).

The INS was barred during that period from initiating any
enforcenent action “~“on the basis of such alleged violation or
violations.'' 1d. The Service conducted educational visits at the
prem ses of many enpl oyers throughout the country during the transition
period, consistent with and in extension of the six-nonth °~“public
information period'' required by IRCA. 8 U S.C § 1324a(i)(1)(A).

Il.Statenent of facts

This case had its genesis in an INS notice of intent to fine (NF)
served March 8, 1988, on Big Bear Market (Big Bear, or respondent). The
NI F al | eged 135 recordkeeping verification violations of § 274A(a) (1) (B)
of the Act, 8 U S. C. 8§ 1324a(a)(1)(B), asserting a demand for $200.00 per
violation for a total civil noney penalty of $27,000. 00.

In response, consistent with established procedure, Big Bear
exercised its statutory right to a hearing before an adninistrative |aw
judge and to bar enforcenent of the NIF pending the hearing, by filing
with INS on March 31, 1988, a tinely answer to the NIF and a request for
hearing. The proceeding before ne was initiated when INS filed with the
O fice of the Chief Administrative Hearing Oficer (OCAHO, a conpl aint
agai nst Big Bear dated April 20, 1988, which incorporated the NIF and the
answer to the NF.
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The OCAHO Notice of Hearing, dated May 4, 1988, forwarded a copy of
the conplaint. Respondent's answer, dated My 10, 1988, was tinely
received by OCAHO on May 11, 1988. By notion dated July 5, 1988, INS
asked leave to anmend its conplaint. Over objection of respondent in its
July 15, 1988 Opposition, |eave to anmend the conplaint was granted by ny
July 15, 1988 order. Subsequently, by order dated August 3, 1988,
respondent's July 25, 1988 notion for leave to anend its answer to add
a seventh and eighth affirmative defense was granted.

An evidentiary hearing was held in San Diego, California conmencing
on August 30, 1988, and continuing through Septenber 1, 1988. The | ast
post-hearing brief was filed on Decenber 7, 1988.

While certain essential facts are in dispute, the underlying
predicate for the instant action is not. The parties have stipulated to
the following facts [as bulleted]:

* Big Bear is a corporation authorized to conduct business in the
State of California, with its corporate office located in San Diego,
Cal i f orni a.

* On or about July 24, 1987, a United States Border Patrol agent net
wi th Bob Boone, who was at that tinme Big Bear's personnel director.

* Since at |east August 1, 1987, and at all tines relevant to this
proceedi ng, Diane DePalo, Laura Tolner, and Cassandra Bundy have been
enpl oyed by Big Bear in its personnel departnent.

* On Septenber 4, 1987, a Notification of Inspection of Forns 1-9
was delivered to Diane DePalo, a Big Bear enployee, by a Border Patrol
agent .

* On Septenber 11, 1987, an inspection of enploynent eligibility
forms (Forms |-9) was conducted by Border Patrol agents at Big Bear's
corporate office.

* On COctober 5, 1987, a Citation was delivered to Laura Tol ner, by
a Border Patrol agent.

* On March 8, 1988, a Notice of Intent to Fine (NIF) was delivered
by a Border Patrol agent to John MacVean, who was the personnel director
of Big Bear at that tine.

* O the 135 all eged paperwork viol ations, 132 represent individuals
listed at the second allegation "“A' of the NIF who were al so incl uded
anong the 183 individuals accounted for in item1 of the Citation. Each
of the alleged violations set forth in second allegation ~"B'' of the NIF
were simlarly included anong the alleged violations set forth in item
1 of the Citation.

* On Decenber 11, 1987, Border Patrol agents reviewed respondent's
-9 forns at Big Bar's corporate office.
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* As of Decenber 11, 1987, no |1-9 form had been conpleted for any
of the 132 individuals listed both in the NNF and in Exhibit ~"C"' to
Attachnent A to the transcript. However, 1-9s were presented to the
Border Patrol for the three individuals listed in allegation ""B'' on the
second page of the NIF, i.e., (1) Marcella Harris, (2) Roger Kifer, and
(3) Angel A Sarm ento.

* On Decenber 31, 1987, the Border Patrol delivered a subpoena of
that date to Steve Cothern, Southern District Manager of Bi g Bear.

* On January 7, 1988, Laura Tol ner and Cassandra (Cassie) Bundy net
with Border Patrol agents at Big Bear's corporate office.

* On January 28, 1988, Laura Tol ner and John MacVean net w th Border
Patrol agents at Big Bear's corporate office at which tinme and place
MacVean signed a letter dated January 28, 1988, prepared by the INS.

The stipulated facts apart, it is wundisputed that the 135
i ndi vidual s as to whom paperwork violations are alleged were hired by Big
Bear after Novenber 6, 1986, for enploynment in the United States and none
had grandf at hered st at us.

As a result of the Septenber 11, 1987 inspection, the Border Patrol
agents determned that Forns |1-9 had not been conpleted for 183 enpl oyees
who had been hired by Big Bear between Novenber 7, 1986, and June 1,
1987. Wthin a few days following the Septenber 11, 1987 inspection,
Cassi e Bundy began preparation of 1-9 fornms for all enployees hired by
Bi g Bear during the period Novenber 7, 1986 through Decenber 31, 1986.

The Gtation, served Cctober 5, 1987, was delivered to Laura Tol ner
because Border Patrol Agent Steven Kean believed Tolner was the acting
director of personnel for Big Bear and as such was a proper person to
serve. Agent Kean net with Tolner, reviewed the G tation, discussed the
purpose of the Citation, and explained to Tolner the verification
requirenents of | RCA. Agent Kean also told Tolner that the INS "~ would
nmove toward intent to fine proceedings'' if the errors noted in the
Citation were not corrected. Tr. 100.

On COctober 5, 1987, when the Citation was served, there was no
di scussi on between the agent and Tolner as to how | ong a period Big Bear
woul d be allowed to prepare an 1-9 for each of the 183 individuals. By
t el ephone on Cctober 8, 1987, Agent Kean told Tol ner that Big Bear would
be given at least 30 days before INS would reinspect the violations
listed in the Ctation.

I mediately followi ng service of the Ctation, Cassie Bundy began
efforts to correct or prepare |-9 forns for those enployees listed in the
Citation. By approxinmately |ate COctober 1987, Big
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Bear enpl oyees nistakenly believed that they had prepared or corrected
an 1-9 for each enployee still in Big Bear's enploy and who had been the
subj ect of the Citation.

Prior to Decenber 11, 1987, a Border Patrol agent telephoned Big
Bear to confirmthat an inspection was to be held on Decenber 11, 1987.
Tol ner acknow edges having received a tel ephone call; she was aware that
there was to be an inspection, although she is not certain how she becane
aware. According to INS, Cassie Bundy was aware prior to Decenber 11
1987, that Border Patrol agents would be coming to Big Bear on that date.

Bi g Bear enployees were cooperative with INS and, on Decenber 11
1987, provided the agents with files of -9 fornms, a personnel roster,
and a roomin which to conduct the inspection

INS alleges that 1-9 fornms presented on Decenber 11, 1987, for
Marcella Harris and for Roger Kifer (both named in the conplaint) were
undated by the enployer in the certification blocks. The |-9 presented
on Decenber 11, 1987, for Angel Sarmiento (also nanmed in the conplaint)

did not provide a docunentation nunber for the "““list B'' docunent
recorded at Section 2, "~ Enployer Review and Verification'' nor did it
provide a properly recorded docunent for ““list C'' i.e., it recorded

a birth certificate to establish enploynent eligibility but supplied a
soci al security nunber, not the birth certificate nunber

Additionally, on Decenber 11, 1987, Border Patrol agents di scovered
that |-9s had not been prepared for the 132 individuals listed on Exhibit
TC' to Attachnent A and inquired as to the whereabouts of those |-9s.
Bi g Bear enpl oyees explained to the agents that through an oversight, |-
9s had not been prepared for those individuals. Big Bear personnel
advi sed Agent Lawence Pierce, the agent in charge, that they would
prepare a |-9 for each of those individuals.

On Decenber 12, 1987, Cassie Bundy began preparation of an [-9 for
each of the individuals listed on Exhibit “~"C' who were still in
respondent's enploy. By the end of Decenber 1987, she believed that an
I -9 had been conpleted for each of those individuals.

On January 7, 1988, Tolner and Bundy net with Border Patrol agents,
tendered to the agents I-9s for each enployee then enpl oyed by Bi g Bear
who had been listed on Exhibit ~"C,'' and asked the agents to inspect and
review the I-9s.

The parties are in dispute as to certain critical issues, i.e., (1)
whet her notice of the Decenber 11, 1987 inspection was served on
respondent and, if so, the legal sufficiency of such notice and (2)
whet her it is significant that an investigation continued follow ng the
i nspecti on.
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INS contends that on Decenber 7, 1987, a notice of inspection was
properly served on Cassie Bundy, as the only full tine enployee in Big
Bear's personnel departnent. Border Patrol agents claimthat on that date
they nmade arrangenents with Bundy for the inspection to take place on
Decenber 11, 1987, and asked that Bundy provide, on Decenber 11, 1987
Fornms 1-9 together with supporting docunentation for individuals hired
after Novenber 6, 1986.

Respondent, however, contends that on Decenber 7, 1987, Agent Pierce
knew that Cassie Bundy was not the person in charge of the personnel
departnment, and, therefore, he had not delivered witten notification of
i nspection of I1-9s to a person in a charge.

INS maintains that the agents conpleted the second inspection on
Decenber 11, 1987, and then conplied information, obtained back-up
docunents, and reviewed the file for the purpose of deciding whether a
Notice of Intent to Fine should issue.

According to Big Bear, Agent Pierce advised that the investigation
would continue and that he would return in early January, 1988, to
i nspect the 1-9 forns. The investigation did continue beyond Decenber 11,
1987, during which tinme Border Patrol agents (1) served a subpoena upon
respondent; (2) net with Cassie Bundy and Laura Tolner at respondent's
corporate office on January 7, 1988, pursuant to the subpoena; (3)
accepted on that date in response to the subpoena, thirty-six (36) -9
forms and a personnel roster from respondent's enployees; and (4) net
with Tolner and MacVean at respondent's corporate office where MacVean
signed the letter tendered by their agents on January 28, 1988.

According to Big Bear, the investigation continued until at |east
January 28, 1988.

I1l. Discussion

Title 8 U S.C. section 1324a(a)(1) makes it ~“unlawful for a person

to other entity to hire . . . , for enploynent in the United States--(B)
an individual wthout conplying with the requirenents of subsection (b)
of this section.'' The requirenents of 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(b), entitled
" Enpl oynent verification system'' are threefold.

First, under 8 U S.C. § 1324a(b)(1)(A), an enpl oyer nust attest "~ on
a formdesignated or established by the Attorney General by regulation,’
that it has verified that an individual is not an unauthorized alien by
exam ni ng docunents which establish both enploynent authorization and
identify as delineated at 8 U. S.C. 88 1324a(b)(1)(B), (C and (D)

Second, the individual nmust attest on the sane formthat he or she
""is a citizen or national of the United States, an alien lawfully
admtted for pernanent residence, or an alien who is authorized
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under this chapter or by the Attorney General to be hired, recruited, or
referred for such enploynent.'' 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(b)(2).

Third, 18 U S.C. § 1324a(b)(3) provides that after conpletion of the
form

the person or entity must retain the form and make it available for
inspection by officers of the Service or the Departnment of Labor during a period
begi nning on the date of the hiring . . . and ending-- . . . (i) three years after
the date of such hiring, or (ii) one year after the date the individual's
enpl oynent is term nated, whichever is later.

Mechanics for conmplying with the verification requirenents for
enpl oyees hired after Novenber 6, 1986, are spelled out in regulations
inmplementing IRCA. Title 8 CF. R section 274a.2(a) provides that:

Enpl oyers need only conmplete the Form I-9 for individuals who are hired after
Novenber 6, 1986 and continue to be enployed after May 31, 1987. Enployers shall
have until Septenmber 1, 1987 to conplete the FormI-9 for individuals hired from
Noverber 7, 1986 through May 31, 1987.

As provided at 8 CF. R § 274a.2(b), an enployee hired after My 31,
1987, nust conplete section 1 of the Form1-9 and present the necessary
docunentation of enploynent eligibility within three business days of
hire. The enployer in turn nust ~“[p]hysically exam ne the docunentation

presented . "' and conplete section 2 of the I-9 within the sane three
busi ness day period. 8 C.F.R § 274a.2(b). I|f the enploynent of an
individual is for less than three business days, the 1-9 nust be
conpleted "~ “before the end of the enployee's first working day.'' 8

C.F.R § 274a.2(b)(1)(iii).

Respondent concedes that on Decenber 11, 1987, there were no |-9s
prepared or presented for 132 individuals nanmed in the conplaint. Forns
| -9 presented for the three other individuals naned in the conplaint,
i.e., Marcella Harris, Roger Kifer, and Angel Sarm ento, were inconplete.

Both respondent's failure to present |1-9s for 132 enpl oyees and its
presenting defective 1-9s for three additional enployees appear to be per
se violations of | RCA Respondent, however, contends that circunstances
persuade against a finding of liability and consequential inposition of
civil noney penalties. INS argues that no such circunstances exist and
that the violations acknowl edged by respondent support a finding of
liability and inposition of a civil noney penalty.

A The notice issue

The parties agree that INS regulations require that an enpl oyer be provided with
at least three days notice prior to a Form |-9 inspection. Title 8 CF.R section
274a.2(b)(2)(ii) is explicit:
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Any person or entity required to retain Fornms |-9 in accordance with this section
shal |l be provided with at least three days notice prior to an inspection of the
Forms by an authorized Service officer. At the tine of inspection, the Forns 1-9
must be made avail able at the location where the request for production was nade,
or if the Forns |1-9 are kept at another |ocation, at the nearest Service office to
that location. No subpoena or warrant shall be required for such inspection. Any
refusal or delay in presentation of the Forms |-9 for inspection is a violation of
the retention requirenments as set forth in section 274A(b)(3) of the Act.

(Enphasi s added.)

During the evidentiary hearing, Big Bear's counsel appeared to
pursue a |ine of questioning which suggested that no one at Big Bear had
received notification of the Decenber 11, 1987 inspection. On brief,
however, and in its proposed findings of fact, respondent appears to have
abandoned its position that no notice of inspection was served and argues
instead that respondent was not properly notified of the inpending
Decenber 11, 1987 inspection.

Bi g Bear argues that the three day notice nust be personally served,
in writing, upon a person in charge of the enployer's business and that
the governnent's failure to properly effect service rendered any
i nspection on Decenber 11, 1987, a nullity.

Conceding that the manner of effecting the three day notice of
i nspection is not prescribed by 8 CF. R 8§ 274a.2(b)(2)(ii), Big Bear,
nonet hel ess, urges that both case |aw and the governnent's own practice
denonstrate that personal service of the notice is required, citing
N.L.R B. v. Vapor Recovery Systens Conpany, 311 F.2d 782 (9th Cr. 1962)
in support. Big Bear argues also that the INS regulation, 8 CF. R §
103.5a(a)(2), requires three day advance notice of inspection to be
served on a corporate enployer " “by leaving it with a person in charge."'"'

Big Bear relies on Buckley & Conpany, Inc. v. Secretary of Labor,
507 F.2d 78 (3d Cir. 1975), to denpbnstrate that at |east one federal
court of appeals has held that delivery of an effective notice of
proposed penalties for violations of the Cccupational Safety and Health
Act (OSHA) should be to a person with authority to disburse corporate
funds to abate the alleged violation, to pay the penalty or to contest
the citation or proposed penalty.

INS argues that the three day notice of inspection provided by
regulation is intended to allow enployers tine to prepare for the -9
i nspection and take necessary actions, that the INS policy of providing
witten notice nerely facilitates that purpose, and additionally provides
a docunent verifying that arrangenents for the inspection have been nade.
Neither I RCA nor the inplenenting regulations require any particular form
of service or that any particular person be served with a notice of
i nspection.
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INS argues that even if service of the three day notice were
required to be effected by delivery to a person in charge, the agents
sufficiently effected service by delivering notice to Cassie Bundy, who
was the only full tinme enployee of respondent's personnel departnent at
that tine.

Furthernmore, according to INS, even if the Service had violated its
own regulation regarding the three day notice, respondent has shown no
prejudice as the result. Accordingly, INS nmaintains that the results of
the 1-9 inspection on Decenber 11th should not be excl uded.

INS clains that on Decenber 7, 1987, when Border Patrol agents
served a notice of inspection [Exh. H on Cassie Bundy, they nmde
arrangenents with her for the inspection to take place on Decenber 11
1987, left her a witten notice to that effect, and asked that she
provi de, on Decenber 11, 1987, [-9s and supporting docunentation for
i ndividuals hired by Big Bear after Novenber 6, 1986.

To support its claim of personal service, INS relies substantially
on the testinony of Agent Pierce. Pierce and his partner M chael CGonzal ez
were assigned to the Big Bear case in early Decenber 1987 and were
instructed by their supervisor to do a reinspection

Pierce testified that he and Conzalez arrived at Big Bear on
Decenber 7, 1987, identified thenselves to Cassie Bundy, showed her their
credentials, told her they were there to give notice of inspection of Big
Bear's |-9s, asked if the personnel manager was there, and were inforned
by Bundy that she was the only person working full tine in the personne
section at that tinme. Pierce discussed with Bundy what would be covered
at the 1-9 inspection and testified that Bundy " "nentioned to us that the

best date for . . . [the inspection] would be on the 11th of Decenber.'
Tr. 127. Agent Pierce characterized Bundy's reaction regarding the
notification of inspection as, ~~ "Al right, if we're going to have it,
this would be the best tine for us.' '' |Id. at 131

Fol | owi ng what he described as standard procedures, Pierce clains
to have filled in the blanks on the notice of inspection to indicate the
date the notice was delivered and the date agreed upon for the
i nspection. He left the original with Bundy. Later that sane afternoon
Pierce typed in the informati on he had handwitten on the original notice
at the Big Bear corporate office: "~ “Served to Cassie Bundy at 210 PM
12/ 7/ 87 by Agents L. Pierce and M CGonzales.'' Exh. H

Al t hough he coul d not nane whom he had spoken to, Pierce testified
at hearing that he had telephoned Big Bear on Decenber 9 or 10th and
verified the 9:00 o' cl ock Decenber 11th date scheduled to performthe |-9
i nspection.
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Testinony of Agent Gonzalez corroborates that of Agent Pierce
concerning Decenber 7, 1987. In addition, Gonzalez testified that the
agents advi sed Bundy that corrections to the violations set forth in the
Ctation would have to be made.

Cassie Bundy testified that Laura Tol ner had i nformed her of a phone
conversation which the latter had received prior to Decenber 11, 1987
but Bundy did not know whomthe call was from nor what it was in regard
to. Bundy denied recalling any instance when Tol ner discussed with her
prior to Decenber 11, 1987, any scheduled inspection for that date.
However, when the agents cane to the Big Bear corporate office on
Decenber 11, 1987, Bundy "~ "knew that they were there to do a review
again, and . . . [she] had gotten the |1-9s together. . . .'" Tr. 336. On
respondent's theory, it is unclear how Bundy, who denies having received
noti ce, becane inforned of the inpending Decenber 11, 1987 inspection

Countering the testinony of Cassie Bundy in which she deni ed being
served with the Notice of Inspection on Decenber 7, 1987, the governnent
characterizes Bundy's recollection as " at best , sel ective and
uncertain.'' CGovt Brief, 14.

Contrary to respondent's reliance on 8 C.F.R 8§ 103.5a(a)(2), INS
asserts that its regulations do not nandate that a particul ar person be
served with a notice of inspection. The governnent denies the
applicability of 8 CF.R 8§ 103.5a(a)(2) which at subsection (iii)
requires delivery of a copy of any docunent within its anbit "~ by | eaving
it with a person in charge.'' Title 8 CF.R section 274a.9(c) governing
service of a notice of intent to fine directs that such service 7. . .
shal |l be acconplished pursuant to Part 103 of this chapter.'' According
to INS, the lack of a simlar directive regarding nethod of service of
a notice of inspection inplies that no such limtation is intended.

Di stingui shing Buckley & Conpany, Inc. v. Secretary of Labor, supra,
INS contends that unlike a notice of intent to fine or a notice of
proposed penalties, a notice of inspection involves no assessnent of
penalty such as to require corporate authority to contest or authorize
expendi ture of funds to pay proposed penalties.

The draft and revised versions of the INS Field Manual reflect a
policy which calls for witten notice of inspection. See Field Manual For
Enpl oyer Sanctions 7/24/87, 111-6 to I11-7 (hereafter Field Manual); see
also Revised |Immagration Oficers' Field Manual 11/ 20/ 87, IV-12
(hereafter Revised Field Manual). I NS suggests that such policy "“is far
froma statutory mandate and does not, in any sense, have the force of
law.'' Govt Reply Brief, 5.

In support, INS relies on Ponce-Gonzalez v. INS, 775 F.2d 1342 (5th
Cir. 1985), where an alien clained that Operations Instructions
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i nposed an affirmative duty on the Service to investigate the alien's
fam i al status to determne whether he was entitled to avoid
deportation. The Fifth Circuit, however, rejected the alien's
“taffirmative duty'' argunent:

The Operations Instructions are . . . only internal guidelines for INS personnel,
and neither confer upon petitioner substantive rights nor provide procedures upon
which he may rely. . . . The alleged ""failure'' of the INS to conduct sua sponte

an investigation of petitioner's situation thus affords no legal basis for a
conclusion that the failure of the Immigration Judge to sua sponte accord
petitioner . . . relief . . . constituted a ~"gross miscarriage of justice."'

775 F.2d at 1346 (citations omitted); accord Dong Sik Kwon v. INS, 646
F.2d 909 (5th Cir. 1981) (distinguishing operation instructions from
agency regul ati ons which have the force of |aw).

OGther «circuits support the assertion that internal operating
instructions are guidelines for INS personnel that do not confer
substantive rights. See Pasquini v. Mirris, 700 F.2d 658 (11th G r. 1983)
(where the Service's failure to conmply wth internal operating
instruction did not deny alien's substantive rights); see also
Vel asco-Qutierrez v. Crossland, 732 F.2d 792 (10th Cr. 1984).

However, the Ninth Grcuit in N cholas v. INS, 590 F.2d 802 (9th
Cir. 1979), reviewing an alien's appeal from denial of relief under
Operations Instruction (O1.) 103.1(a)(1)(ii) governing deferred action
status, focused on the directive nature of that O1l. and reasoned that:

It is obvious that this procedure exists out of consideration for the conveni ence
of the petitioner, and not that of the INS. In this aspect, it far nore closely
resenbl es a substantive provision for relief than an internal procedural guideline.

Id. at 807.

Wil e acknowl edging that “~"in the nain, operations instructions are
nothing nore than intra-agency guidelines which create no substantive
rights. ) id., the Nnth GCrcuit di stinguished OI.

103.1(a) (1) (ii) by noting that it

differs fromthe normin that its effect can be final and permanent, with the
sane force as that of a Congressional statute. It clearly and directly affects
substantive rights_the ability of an individual subject to its provisions to
conti nue residence in the United States. The purpose and effect of the Instruction
are quite simlar to those of 8 U.S.C. section 1254(a)(1). It appears that the only

maj or additional requirenent for relief wunder the latter is “~“good noral
character.'' It would be curious, to say the least, if, of two procedures wth
potentially identical inmpact wupon the alien, there was qualitatively nore

di scretion for the one wthout direct Congressional approval than for the
Congressional | y approved procedure.

Id. (footnote onitted).

INS relies on N.L.RB. v. Vapor Recovery Systens Conpany, supra,
where the Ninth Crcuit, discussing personal service of a witten notice
mandat ed by statute, noted that it is sufficient to

296



1 OCAHO 48

show that actual witten notice was received by the appropriate party,

““the neans enployed being uninportant.'' 311 F.2d at 785. The court al so
recognized that "~“[a] nmeasure of cooperation of the party noticed is
necessary . . .'' in inparting know edge of the contents of the noti ce.

Id. at 786. Recognizing the existence of elenents beyond the control of
the party giving the notice, the Ninth Crcuit reasoned that:

Wien all facts are considered and it appears that enough has been done by the party
attenpting to give notice to put the party to be affected on inquiry into the
contents of that witten notice which he has in his hands, it should be held that
noti ce has been given.

Id.

By personally serving Cassie Bundy, the government clains it
adequately notified Big Bear of the inpending Decenber 11th inspection.
The governnment maintains that “~“[t]he evidence of record, applying
appl i cabl e | egal precedents, |eaves no doubt that on Decenber 7th, 1987,
respondent was served with a Notice of Inspection in conpliance with
applicable regulations (8 CF. R 274a.2(b)(2)(ii)).'" CGovt Brief, 14, 18.
Fol lowi ng its discussion of Vapor Recovery, supra, the governnent argues
that "~ [wlhat Cassie Bundy did with the Notice is sonmething beyond the
control of the Service and it cannot be accountable for her conduct after
service.'' Govt Reply Brief, 6.

The CGovernnent's final argunent to support the legal sufficiency of
its notice of inspection is that even if the service violated its own
regul ations and policies respondent has failed to show prejudice so as
to warrant exclusion of the results of the Decenber 11, 1987 inspection
INS argues that the testinony of Bundy and Tol ner denonstrate that they
““believed that they had nmade all the corrections for those violations
listed on the Citation and that they were otherwi se ready for a Form -9
review, wthout any need for prior notice.'' Govt Brief, 18-19.

Bundy deni ed bei ng surprised when the agents arrived at the Big Bear

corporate office on Decenber 11th. She stated "~°. . . we were expecting
themany tine.'' Tr. 393. Wien asked if it concerned her that the agents
had shown up, Bundy responded "“"[n]Jot at all.'' 1d. at 394. At the

hearing, Bundy, confirnmed her deposition testinony concerning the agents
visit on Decenber 11, 1987:

"“When they canme in to review them there was no problem for us. W had no
preparing to do. The 1-9s were done all the time. Like | had nentioned on Decenber
11t h when they_we thought we had everything here done."'
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* * * * * * *

""They didn't have to make an appointnment with us. | nean, if they wanted to, fine,
but it wasn't required with us. W didn't have to do any preparing or any, you
know, going back. We pulled the 1-9s for themand that was it. They were all kept
t oget her. "'

Id. at 396.

Mor eover, she added that neither Laura Tolner nor Diane DePalo was

concerned or surprised when the agents showed up on Decenber 11th. Bundy,

whose responsibility it was to correct the 1-9 forns, ~ " had no problem

with themconing in on the 11th . . .'"' as she thought that all the I-9s

which were required to be done had been done and "~ “there was no reason
to [go] back on the 1-9s to do a double check.'' 1d. at 404.

Tolner's testinony is consistent with that of Bundy. She was al so
under the inpression until the inspection on Decenber 11th that the |-9s
had been conpleted for all individuals listed in the Citation, and stated
that “~"Cassie told ne they were conplete.'' 1d. at 435. Referring to
Bundy, Tolner added ""[s]he had the corrected 1-9 forns. W thought we
had corrected all of them She had them corrected in a file in a
drawer.'' 1d. at 441.

If the agents on Decenber 11th had not told her that the forms were
i nconpl ete, she would not otherwi se have known because she "~ ~was under
the inpression that they were all corrected, and Cassie was under the
i mpression that they were all corrected.'' 1d. at 443. Tol ner added that
““[t]he agents showed us where we had made an error.'' |d. at 444,

Tol ner recalled having a tel ephone conversation with soneone from
the Border Patrol a day or two before the agents arrived on Decenber
11th, although she did not recall the contents of the conversation.

Tol ner communicated with Larry Mabe, President of Big Bear, ~“on
everything that happened between . . . Big Bear and the Imrgration
Departnent.'' |d. at 440.

Al though before the hearing Tolner was unfaniliar with Mabe's reply
to an interrogatory, she acknowl edged at hearing that she was sure that
his statenent on interrogatory was true to the effect that during the
t el ephone conversation with the personnel departnent prior to Decenber
11th, a Border Patrol agent stated that the purpose of the visit was to
review | -9s and that ~“the date of Decenber 11th, 1987 was set for review
of the fornms.'' |Id. at 437. In further colloguy with INS counsel
concerning that conversation, Tolner was asked whether Decenber 11th was
the date set for review

A . . . | donot recall what was said on the conversation but, if Larry [Mabe]--if
that's what he said, that's probably what | told him
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Q Well, if one was to accept that as a true statenment, you were aware that the
agents were going to be there on Decenber 11th, 1987.

A Right. | said that | was sonehow aware of it.

Id. at 440. Asked whether anyone else at Big Bear was aware beforehand
of the Decenber 11th review, Tolner responded that "~ “Cassie was, |I'm
sure.'' |d.

Respondent's witnesses support the governnment's contention that
respondent's personnel anticipated the review regardl ess of the neans by
which they had been notified of the particular date and tine for the
i nspection of Decenber 11, 1987.

As aptly summarized by the governnment at page 19 of its brief,

In essence, the testinony of . . . [Bundy and Tol ner] establishes that they were
not surprised when the Border Patrol Agents appeared Decenber 11th, having
anticipated their return, believed they had everything in order, had no preparation
to do for the Form -9 review, and would not have done anything different if a
Notice of I|nspection had been provided.

It seens plain to ne that the agents visited the Big Bear corporate
office on Decenber 7 and that later that day Agent Pierce typed in
entries on the file copy of the original notice followi ng delivery to Ms.
Bundy.

Ms. Bundy had never testified under oath on the w tness stand before
this case. As mght be expected, therefore, she was | ess poised than were
the Border Patrol agents. Her recollection was nore anbiguous than
theirs, a failing which, on ny observation, is nore a reflection of a
| esser interest than theirs in the subject at issue, i.e., adherence to
the enpl oynent verification program than to testinonial unease.

The fact that Bundy's recollection is not consistent concerning the
visit fails to persuade ne that witten notice was not delivered as
asserted by Pierce and Gonzalez in view of the clear pattern of vagueness
in her recollection. The thread of wuncertainty that ran through her
testinonial recall is consistent with the inattention to detail that, she
conceded, left uncorrected and unnoticed the allegation at item1 of the
Citation that |1-9s had not been prepared for 183 individuals at the tine
of the Decenber 11, 1987 inspection

I conclude that Border Patrol agents provided the notice of
i nspection to Cassie Bundy on Decenber 7, 1987, as endorsed by Agent
Pierce on the notice. In so deciding, | do not depend on the suggestion
that a corporate enployee nmay have nore "~ "notive to fabricate'' than does
a public enployee. (Govt Brief, 17) | depend, instead, on ny inpression
that, anmong the witnesses who testified, the events of Decenber 7th were
nore nmenorable to the agents than to respondent's personnel and that,
therefore, the forner are nore credi ble on that subject than the latter
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Assuning for discussion purposes, however, that witten notice had

not been delivered, | find no precedent to conpel a finding that because
INS officially favors witten notice the enployer is shielded from
cul pability if that notice had not been given. | do not understand

Ni cholas v. INS, supra, to suggest a different conclusion. There, the
Ninth Circuit nmade clear that it was departing from the genera
understandi ng that "~ operations instructions . . . create no substantive
rights. . . .''" N cholas, 590 F.2d at 807.

Al t hough not dispositive of the case before it, the Nicholas court
was concerned that the operations instruction affected substantive
rights. In our case, the INS guideline provides a procedural dinension

not demanded by statute or regulation, i.e., advance witten notice.
Common experience suggests that a witten notice provides a better audit
trail and a better device to refresh recollection than does an oral

communi cati on. To acknow edge a preference does not, however, establish
a right to such procedure.

This conclusion nmay be expected to find favor with the N nth
Circuit. Subsequent to Nicholas, that court, quoting Wan Chung \Wn v.
Ferro, 543 F. Supp. 1016, 1018 (WD.N. Y. 1982), held that in light of
1981 revisions to the 1978 version of OI. 103.1(a)(1)(ii) ~° it is no
| onger possible to conclude that [the instruction] is intended to confer
any benefit upon aliens, rather than [to operate] nerely for the INS s
own convenience.' '' Roneiro De Silva v. Snith, 773 F.2d 1021, 1024 (9th
Cir. 1985). See Mada-luna v. Fitzpatrick, 813 F.2d 1006 (9th Cir. 1987).

In context of the weight of authority that internal operating
instructions confer no substantive rights, considering also that the
regul ation which explicitly addresses adequacy of notice is silent as to
its form 8 CF. R § 274a.2(b)(2)(ii), it is not reasonable to concl ude
that, standing alone, failure to provide notice in witing inpairs
substantive rights of enployers charged with violations of 8 U S C §
1324a.

I conclude that notice was served upon Cassie Bundy who, for al
that appears on this record, was the person in charge of Big Bear's
personnel departnent on Decenber 7, 1987, as the only full-tine enpl oyee
present in that departnent. | agree with INS, however, that respondent's
reliance on Buckley, supra, is msplaced.

The I NS notice of inspection |lacks the operative and direct inpact
of a notice of penalty under OSHA received by a business concern at risk
lest it abate a violation, pay an assessnent or contest the notice. That
conclusion is consistent with the distinction in regulatory treatnent
bet ween service of notices of inspection and notices of intent to fine.
Only as to the latter is it suggested that service nust be to "~ a person
in charge.'' Conpare 8 CF. R
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8 274a.2(b)(2)(ii) [notice of inspection] with 8 CF. R § 274a.9(c)
[citation and notice of intent to fine] inplicating 8 CF. R § 103. 5a.

Furthernore, although not nentioned by the governnent, the
inapplicability of 8 CF. R 8 103.5a to service of a notice of inspection
is confirnmed by the text of the regulation which recites that " [t]his

section states authorized neans of service by the Service . . . of
notices, decisions, and other papers . . . in administrative proceedings
before Service officers. . . .'" At least until the NIF issues there is

no proceeding before a Service officer. See United States v. Mester
Manuf acturing Co., OCAHO docket no. 87100001, June 17, 1988, (Mrse, J.),
Decision and Order, 20. | conclude that although witten notice of
i nspection was delivered to the apparent person in charge, there is no
statutory or regulatory requirenent that service be effected in that
manner .

In nmy judgnent, Big Bear's claimof defective service of notice is
insufficient in fact and law to defeat admissibility of the results of
the inspection of Decenber 11, 1987. Bi g Bear personnel were as prepared
for the inspection as ever they would have been, whether or not they had
received witten notice three or nore days in advance. Big Bear's
W tnesses were consistent in their recollection that they knew there was
to be an inspection and that they thought they had corrected all
deficiencies called to their attention in the Citation delivered to
respondent nore than two nonths earlier.

It being conceded that but for the inspection, respondent's
personnel were satisfied that they were in conpliance wth 1[-9
requirenments, for all that appears there is no reason to suppose they
woul d have corrected the acknow edged om ssions but for the results of
the inspection on Decenber 11, 1987. | am satisfied, therefore, that
what ever deficiencies there may have been in effecting prior notice to
Big Bear of a further inspection subsequent to the Cctober 5, 1987
delivery of the Citation, there was no consequential prejudice to Big
Bear .

B. Al legations in the conplaint included anbng those in the prior citation

Respondent acknow edges that issuance of a citation during the twelve nonth period
immediately following the first full six months after enactnment, 8 U. S.C. § 1324a(i),
termnates the "~“grace period, regardl ess of the nunber of nonths that have el apsed, and
thereafter proceedings may be brought for subsequent violations.'' Resp Brief, 2-3.
Legi slative history supports this conclusion. See Conference Comm, Immgration Reform
and Control Act of 1986, H R Rep. No. 99-1000, 99th Cong., 2d Sess., p. 86 (1986) (" The
Con-

301



1 OCAHO 48

ferees wish to make it clear that following receipt of a citation, an
enpl oyer is subject to civil penalties even though the citation period
has not expired '). Respondent, however, urges that once paperwork

violations are listed in a citation, the governnent is barred from
all eging and enforcing any future 1-9 violations with respect to the sane
enpl oynent of the individuals accounted for in the Citation. | cannot
agr ee.

The statute provides a grace period only for first violations which
occurred during the 12-nmonth citation period; subsequent violations are
actionabl e whether occurring within or after that period and whether or
not involving violations alleged in the original citation. To concl ude
ot herwi se would be contrary to the purpose of the statute by effectively
i mruni zi ng enpl oyers who upon citation of violations failed or chose not
to correct them | conclude that an enployer's failure or refusal to
correct violations alleged in a citation constitutes a second or further
violation of IRCA for which a notice of intent to fine nmay issue.

Respondent clains that the statute fails to expressly inpose any
affirmative duty to prepare or correct retroactively 1-9s for 132
i ndi vi dual s accounted for in the Gtation who were identified in the N F.
Respondent enphasi zes the distinction (at 8 U S.C. § 1324a(a)(1)(A and
8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(a)(2)) between know ngly hiring unauthorized aliens and
knowi ngly continuing to enploy unauthorized aliens, arguing that with
respect to paperwork violations there is no corollary to the " conti nuing
to employ'' violation. Big Bear's argunent appears to be that a paperwork
violation, unlike an unauthorized enploynent violation, is related only

to the fact of hire and not to continued enploynent. It is a one-tine
obligation and, once the subject of a citation, cannot be the subject
al so of subsequent enforcenent. | am asked to conclude, therefore, that
an enployer cannot be liable on an NF for paperwork violations

identified in a prior citation

Cul pability for enpl oynent of unauthorized aliens requires that the
enpl oyer know the status of the enpl oyee, know edge of which the enpl oyer
may have acquired at or before the tine of hire or later during the
subsi sting enploynent. In contrast, the statutory requirenent to conply
with the enploynent verification system is a pervasive and continuing
one, as to which the state of nind of the enployer is irrelevant, the
i ndi vidual either having been hired or not, and the paperwork either
havi ng been perfected or not. Mreover, it seens plain that to proscribe
enpl oynent of unauthorized aliens by enployers who knew of that
unaut hori zed status at the tine of hire or who becane aware of it only
after the em
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pl oynent began, it was necessary for the legislation to conprehend both
possibilities.

INS, on reply brief, correctly notes that the requirenent to conply
is tied to the fact of hire. In ny judgnent, it does not matter, whether
within or after the citation period, how many tines an enployer is
charged with a paperwork violation as to a particular individual. The
obligation to conply being continuous, liability for nonconpliance is
continuous also. The result is that the enployer renains liable for
failure to prepare and present |-9s.

As noted by the governnment (Govt Reply Brief, 6), the effect of the
interplay of violations alleged in either the Citation or the NIF was
addressed in ny decision and order in United States v. Mester
Manufacturing Co., supra. In Mester respondent chal |l enged all egati ons
in the NIF because they had not been included in a precedent citation.
Here, Big Bear challenges allegations in the NIF because they had been
included in the Citation. My understanding of the inpact of the citation
period pertains to both argunents:

the transition period ““citation'' requirenent is satisfied if a citation
issues at all to a particular enployer. It is immterial whether or not the
citation conprehends the sane type or a different type of violation, or a violation
with respect to the sane enpl oyee, as that which forns the basis of the subsequent

enforcement action. 8 U S C 1324a(i)(2). . . . The citation need not have
addressed a particular violation as a condition precedent to an action against the
enpl oyer.

Mester, 12-13.

The fact that a citation addressed a particul ar viol ati on does not
preclude that violation, if uncorrected, from forning the prenise for
i ssuance of an NIF. | agree with the governnment that "~ "[t]he Notice of
Intent to Fine sinply involved subsequent violations that were uncovered
during a second inspection and there is nothing to suggest in the
|l egislative history or statute that enployers were, sonehow, granted
absolute immnity for those violations included in a Citation, though
never corrected.'' Govt Reply Brief, 6-7.

Once notified of alleged violations, an enployer has an affirnmative
duty to nmake the necessary corrections within a reasonable tine after
being so notified whether by citation or otherwise. The fact that certain
of the allegations in the NIF were also included in the Citation does not
preclude a proceeding from being initiated following a reinspection
during which it is determined that errors have gone uncorrected. A fair
readi ng of the statute requires no |ess.

C. Duty to conply with enpl oynent verification requirenents

Big Bear clains it is under no obligation to correct the violations
set forth in the Ctation for two reasons: (1) absent express statutory
or regulatory authority to do so there is no affirmative duty to
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prepare retroactively -9 forns for enployees listed in the Citation; (2)
any requirenment to correct violations listed in the Citation was
sati sfied when Big Bear properly conpleted and presented the requisite
| -9s, on or about January 7, 1988, while the Service's investigation of
respondent was still in progress.

1. Reasonable tine to conply

The parties agree that neither the express provisions of | RCA nor
the regulatory provisions at 8 CF. R § 274a directly address the issue
of correction of violations which were the subject of the Citation.
Respondent characterizes inposition of such an affirmative duty on
enpl oyers as an enl argenent of the statute beyond its intended scope.

Bi g Bear points out that | RCA expressly provides a separate penalty
for an enployer who continues to enploy an unauthorized alien after
notice as distinct fromknowingly hiring such an individual; however, no
such provision is nmade anong paperwork violations as would inpose a
penalty for a <continuing failure to conply wth the paperwork
requirenents followi ng service of a citation which specified paperwork
vi ol ati ons.

The governnment nmmintains that the requirenent that an enployer
correct violations identified in the Ctation is inplicit in that the
statute clearly mandates enployers' conpliance with the enploynent
verification system INS further nmaintains that ~“[t]he enployer, upon
service of a Citation is under an obligation to imediately correct any
violations, as the statute does not contain an express or inplied tine
limtation on the Service's right to reinspect.'' Gov Brief, 23-24
(emphasi s added). In support, INS cites decisions which arise under the
Cccupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA): Brennan v. CQccupational Safety
and Health Review Conmi ssion, 513 F.2d 553 (10th Cr. 1975); Haybuster
Manuf acturing Co., 1975-76 OSHD (CCH) Paragraph 20,088 (8th Cir. 1975);
Secretary of Labor v. Mitthews and Fritts, Inc., 1974-75 OSHD (CCH)
Par agraph 18,455 (1974) (2 OSHC 1149).

Bi g Bear responds that OSHA unlike | RCA provides (1) a procedure to
contest a citation and (2) that a citation shall fix atinme limt within
whi ch corrective action is to be taken. Therefore, it is argued, the CSHA
cases are unavailing to the governnent.

The OSHA grants an enployer who receives a citation for alleged
violations following an initial inspection 15 working days to notify the
Departnent of Labor (DOL) that it contests the citation. OSHA provides
also that such a citation shall set "“a reasonable tine for the abatenent
of the violation.'' Wen the DOL set conpliance deadlines within the 15
day period, the Cccupational Safety
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and Health Review Comission (OSAHRC) and appellate courts were
confronted with the question whether the 15 days granted to advise of
contest served as a grace period so as to preclude liability for failure
to correct the violation or to bar reinspection to deterni ne whether the
al | eged viol ati on had been abat ed.

It is instructive that in both Kesler, supra, and Haybuster, supra, the
circuits reversed CSAHRC determ nations that no reinspection or demand
for abatement could occur during the statutory period to contest the
citation. Discussing the Tenth Circuit's rationale in Kesler, noting that
"“[t]he court found that since the purpose of OSHA is to assure enpl oyees
safe working conditions, no delay in abatenent of cited violations is
aut hori zed where not expressly provided for in the Act,'' the Eighth
Circuit in Haybuster concluded that °° abat enent may be required and
rei nspection nmade prior to the expiration of the 15-working day peri od.

."" Haybuster, 1975-76 OSHD (CCH) at pp. 23, 895-96.

Matthews and Fritts, 1Inc., supra, nhakes <clear the application a
reasonabl eness qualification on the length of tine allowed for abatenent
of cited OSHA violations before reinspection is warranted. Were a
citation for nonconpliance demanded abatenent of a violation on the day
that the citation was received, and reinspection the follow ng day found
no correction, OSAHRC affirned the decision of the admnistrative |aw
judge that a reasonable tinme to conply had not been afforded.

The Judge held that a citation nust afford an enployer a reasonable
abatement period to allow him to attain conpliance with the Act. Reasonabl e,
according to the Judge, requires giving the enployer the opportunity to eval uate
the violation, fornulate plans for correction, and have time to inmplenent the
corrective plans. W agree.

Under the facts of the instant case, the tine period allotted for corrective
measures was totally inconsistent with the nature of the condition to be corrected.

Matthews. supra. 1974-75 OSHD (CCH) at p. 22, 481.

Notwi t hst andi ng respondent's argunent that it had no affirnmative
duty to correct violations for which it had been cited, conduct and
testinmony of respondent's personnel reflect a contrary understanding
consistent with the language of the Citation. Cassie Bundy stated that
after the Septenber 11, 1987 inspection, Tolner told her that the agents
had found paperwork errors and would return to informthem of what needed
to be corrected. Tolner also told Bundy that they would have to prepare
the -9 forns for enployees from Novenber 6, 1986 to May of 1987. Tr.
328-29. As early as Septenber 11, 1987, she used her "~ “new hire'' list
for Novenber and Decenber 1986 to prepare letters to explain the 1-9 to
i ndi vi d-
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uals still currently enployed by Big Bear and to | et them know that she
needed to see verification identification. [d. at 329.

Bundy also testified that upon receipt of a copy of the Citation
from Tolner, Bundy imrediately started to nmmke corrections to the
docunents for the individuals listed in the Citation. 1d. at 332.

Tolner recalled the gist of her discussion with the agent who served
the Citation in early October 1987 to the effect that “°. . . we needed
to make the corrections, that we would get right on them imediately.'
Id. at 415. Tolner's testinony corroborates that of Agent Kean that at
the time he served the Citation he stated to Tolner that an |-9 was
required by law to be prepared thereafter for each of the 183 enpl oyees
accounted for at item1l of the Ctation

Agent Kean clains to have di scussed with Tolner the contents of the

| ast paragraph of the Citation ““that, if the violations were not
corrected, that the Service would nove towards a notice and intent to
fine."'" Id. at 101. Tolner testified that upon receipt of the Ctation

she showed it to Larry Mabe and then gave it to Bundy to start nmking the
corrections.

The conmand of |RCA, the language of the Citation, and INS
enforcenent procedures nake clear that an enployer has a duty to correct
violations alleged in the Citation. Testinobny of Big Bear personnel
denonstrates their understanding of this duty, of the intention of INS
to reinspect, and of potential liability for cited violations |eft
uncorrect ed.

| RCA explicitly mandates enployer conpliance with the enploynent
verification requirenents of 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(b). Necessarily inplicit
in that statutory mandate is the logical inplication that enployers are
duty-bound to correct the violations alleged in the Ctation. Cearly,
| RCA provides for both a 6-nmonth public information period beginning
Decenber 1, 1986, followed by a 12-nonth first citation period from June
1, 1987 through WMay 31, 1988, during which no proceeding could be
conducted or order issued for violations noted in the Citation. Those
transitional provisions do not preclude incorporation in the notice of
intent to fine of violations included in the prior citation where such
violations are |left unabated. The | anguage of the explanatory page of the
Citation (Exh. F) nmkes clear the governnent's requirenent that cited
viol ations be corrected and the risk of failure to do so:

It is the desire of the Inmigration and Naturalization Service to encourage
voluntary conpliance with the law. The Service anticipates your cooperation in
correcting the violation or violations which have resulted in the issuance of this
Citation. However, if the listed violations are not corrected, upon subsequent
inspection the Service will issue a Notice of Intent to Fine against you.
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Havi ng been cited for or otherwi se notified of specific violations,
it is clear that an enployer has a duty to investigate to deternine the
significance of the allegations and to nmake the necessary corrections.
In the decision and order in Mester Mnufacturing Co., supra, | held
enpl oyers to an inquiry duty:

Once informed by the INS that continued enploynent of an individual may be
unaut horized or otherw se suspect, the enployer cannot with inpunity rely on an
expectation that a border patrol agent will "“~“contact'' or "~“get back'' to it.
Rat her, the enployer nust nmeke tinely and specific inquiry, as a predicate for
ei ther conplying with paperwork requirenents or discharging the enpl oyee.

Mester, 23.

| found Mester to be in violation of 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(a)(2) for the
conti nued enploynent of three individuals whose docunented status had
been investigated by INS foll owi ng which

. . . it was not reasonable to continue their enploynment as |long as Septenber 25
or later in light of the September 3 notification and subsequent confirmation by
the nunbers match that the use of the cards was inproper and the enpl oyments,

t herefore, were unaut hori zed.
1d. at 24.

On Cctober 5, 1987, Big Bear received the Citation notifying it of
problens with the conpl eteness and accuracy of its |1-9s. The governnent
asserts that Big Bear's duty to correct the violations cited is an
i mredi ate one. Having received such notification, Big Bear, like all
enpl oyers, is held to a duty to correct the cited violations.

As to tinmefranes, the OSHA cases discussed, supra, inform that
respondents in federal enforcenent actions are at risk if they fail
within a reasonable period of tine following notification of
nonconpl i ance to cone into conpliance.

Agent Kean testified that there had been no discussion on Cctober
5, 1987, with any Big Bear enployee as to how | ong Big Bear woul d have
to prepare 1-9s for the 183 enployees accounted for in item 1 of the
Ctation. During a phone conversation on Cctober 8, 1987, and in response
to a specific inquiry by Tolner as to how long Big Bear would be given
to correct the violation Kean assured Tol ner that Big Bear woul d be given
at |least 30 days before reinspection. Kean explained how he had arrived
at the 30 day period:

at the tine | was operating under an instruction that enployers should be
given a reasonable length of tinme to make those corrections and the suggested tinme
el ement was 30 days.

Tr. 77.

Ageny Kean's testinobny is consistent with INS procedures as set
forth in both the draft and revised versions of the INS Field Manual. The
draft version at page |I11-15 states as follows: “"[t]imng of followup

i nspections is left to the discretion of the case
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officer and supervisor. |In general, enployers should be given a
reasonabl e anpunt of tinme to correct deficiencies.'' The Novenber 20,
1987 Revised Field Manual at section IV-D-1-d provides that the fol |l ow up
site visit shall be:

within a reasonable anount of tinme, generally thirty to sixty days after

i ssuance of the citation. . . . This does not preclude imediate followup in
ci rcunst ances which require, or in which information concerning new violations is
recei ved.

Bi g Bear was not reinspected until Decenber 11, 1987, a little nore
than 60 days after service of the Citation on Cctober 5, 1987. Wile
recognizing that the Citation accounted for as many as 183 individuals
for whom no 1-9s were found, a 60-day period follow ng service of the
Citation is nore than reasonable, in ny judgnent, to afford the
enpl oyer's staff the opportunity to nmake the necessary corrections and
cone into conpliance.

Notwithstanding the direction in the Citation to correct
deficiencies found upon inspection, respondent would have ne understand
that I RCA afforded enployers until after My 31, 1988, to cone into
conpliance, arguing that until that time "~ “no enforcenent action other
than the service of a Citation was to be taken with respect to first tine
paperwork violations.'' Resp Brief, 9. This argunment m sunderstands the
conpr ehensive nature of the transitional provisions by which a six-nonth
public information period was followed by a full year during which every
enpl oyer was entitled to be confronted with a “~“citation'' of alleged
violations as a precondition to sanctions liability.

By regulation, as pointed out on reply brief, INS authorized one
grace period by allowing an enpl oyer until Septenber 1, 1987, to conplete
|-9s for enployees hired after Novenber 6, 1986, who continued to be
enpl oyed by that enployer after May 31, 1987. See 8 C.F. R § 274a.2(a).
That grace period aside, an enployer is obliged to conplete an 1-9 for
each enployee within at |east three business days of hire. See 8 C.F. R
88 274a.2(b)(1) (i) and (ii).

Not hing in I RCA suggests that once an enployer becane the subject
of a citation, the otherw se applicable provisions of the Act were to be
withheld. To the contrary, 8 US. C § 1324a(i)(2), the sole statutory
statenment on point, captioned "~ "12-nonth first citation period,'' is
explicit:

In the case of a person or entity, in the first instance in which the Attorney
General has reason to believe that the person or entity my have violated
subsection (a) [8 U S.C. 8 1324a(a)] . . . during the . . . 12-nonth period, the
Attorney General shall provide a citation. .

(Enphasi s added.)
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On respondent's supposition, an enployer would be under no duty to
abate or otherwise correct violations alleged in a citation during the
twel ve-nonth period following the first full six nonths after enactnent
(viz, June 1, 1987 through May 31, 1988). | reject that supposition both
because it is unsupported by a plain reading of IRCA and as ininmcal to
a rational enforcenment program |ndeed, the logic of the argunent would
have suggested that citations be drawn by INS as narrowWy as possible in
order to save renmining and other allegations for prosecution wthout
delaying until May 31, 1988.

Respondent's theory stands on its head the educational character of
the transition period. Respondent enphasizes the educational character
of that period, acknow edging that “~“INS through the use of a Citation
woul d inform the enpl oyer. "' Resp Brief, 10. dearly, use of the
narrowest of citations is inconsistent with their use as a pedagogi cal
devi ce.

| conclude that the citation period while affording a first-tine
of fender an initial warning was never intended to imunize an enployer
for subsequent violations whether or not the 12-nonth citation period had
formally expired.

Big Bear asserts that if it had a duty to correct the violations
listed inthe Gtation, it tinely did so by January 7, 1988. Respondent's
assertion is premsed on its characterization that the INS investigation
continued after Decenber 11, 1987. Big Bear nmkes the unassail abl e point
that no tinetable was set by statute or regulation to prescribe a date
certain by which 1-9s for individuals listed in a citation nust be
conpleted or corrected. Respondent suggests that INS could have set a
date certain ~“by an appropriate regulation.'' Resp Brief, 10. Because
INS failed to do so, Big Bear would have ne conclude that INS could not
have required that the violations be cured by Decenber 11, 1987.

Bi g Bear acknow edges that "~ through excusabl e i nadvertence [the |-
9s] had not been prepared as of Decenber 11, 1987.'' Resp Brief, 11. On
January 7, 1988, pursuant to an adninistrative subpoena, Agents Pierce
and Gonzal ez obtained a personnel roster and copies of 1-9s which had
been previously inspected. Al though declining Bundy and Tol ner's request
to inspect the 1-9s presented on that date, Agent Pierce agreed to | ook
at themand " ~show thema couple of things.'' Tr. at 157.

On January 28, 1988, Pierce returned to the Big Bear corporate
of fice and obtained the signature of John MacVean, Big Bear's personnel
director, acknowl edging in a letter that any corrections and
nodi fi cations nmade on -9 forns subpoenaed and obtai ned on Janu-
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ary 7, 1988, had been nade after the Decenber 11, 1987 inspection. See
Exh. Gto Attachnment A

Big Bear's reliance on having conpleted and provided the 1-9 forns
for INS review on January 7, 1988, in order to sustain its claimto have
timely corrected the alleged violations listed on the Citation is
ill-founded. The relevant date for conpliance was Decenber 11, 1987, not
January 7, 1988, or any date subsequent to Decenber 11th.

Respondent had in effect a little over 60 days after issuance of the
Cctober 5, 1987 Citation until the second inspection on Decenber 11,
1987. That period clearly afforded respondent reasonable and anple
opportunity to nmake the necessary corrections. Respondent, however,
failed to do so. The Border Patrol agents' Decenber 11, 1987 inspection
reveal ed nunerous violations |eft uncorrected despite their inclusion on
the Cctober 5, 1987 Citation

On Decenber 11, 1987, Big Bear's nonconpliance, whether through
i nadvertence or otherwi se, conprised an ipso facto violation of |RCA
Good faith is not a defense to violations of |IRCA s enploynent
verification requirenments although it is a consideration in deternining
the quantum of <civil noney penalty to be assessed. 8 USC §
1324a(e)(5). Big Bear was obliged to cone into conpliance within a
reasonable tine after service of the Citation. The tinespan between
Cctober 5, 1987 and Decenber 11, 1987, provided Big Bear a reasonable
opportunity to correct discrepancies and to attain conpliance with | RCA

2. Conpliance as of the date of the Decenmber 11, 1987 inspection

The governnent asserts that the second inspection of respondent's
| -9s began and concluded on Decenber 11, 1987, and was followed by an
i nvestigation. Respondent appeared at hearing to suggest that the
i nspection continued after Decenber 11, 1987. On brief, however,
respondent's position is that INS activity after Decenber 11, 1987, was
an investigation during which the governnent having subpoenaed certain
Big Bear records, inproperly refused to treat Big Bear's tender on
January 7, 1988, as conpliance with enpl oynent verification requirenments.
Accordingly, Big Bear contends that it cannot be liable for nonconpliance
at the tine of inspection.

The governnment nmmintains that the purpose of its investigative
actions after the Decenber 11, 1987 inspection was to allow it to
properly prepare its case and to determ ne whether a Notice of Intent to
Fine Big Bear should issue. Comments by Agent Pierce to Bundy and Tol ner
as he was leaving Big Bear's corporate office on Decenber 11th are
i nstructive:
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When it came tine to go, we stopped up at the front office. | was asked how
it was going. | told them | was unable to tell at this point because--while the
inspection itself was conpleted, | needed tine to conpile the data and research

sonme things that we had fromthe information, as | said, where we would take it and
run social security nunmbers, driver's license--checks--other things where we woul d
take it and check the validity of some of the documents that were utilized.

Tr. 144 (enphasis added).

As quoted above, Agent Pierce testified at hearing that he had on
Decenber 11, 1987, characterized the inspection as having concluded on
that date. On deposition before hearing, however, he had characterized
conti nued operational activity by INS concerning Big Bear as a conti nued
i nspection, not an investigation.

Exanples fromthe draft and revised field manual s suggest that the
di stinction between inspections and investigations engenders a certain
conf usi on:

Investigations. . . . Reviews of 1-9 Forns performed in the course of investigation
are referred to as " "investigative inspections.''

* * * * * * *

Conpl i ance | nspections.

Revised Field Manual |11-1 (enphasis added).

What ever appellation is applied, the Revised Field Manual makes cl ear
that, in addition to review of 1-9s, ~°. . . officers may concl ude that
they need to review other relevant enploynent records, such as payroll
records or enployee lists. Oficers my, at their discretion, nake an
oral request for other records during investigative visits to
enployers.'' 1d. at IV-A-3-c. See also |V-B-3-g, identical text to that
gquoted, substituting ““the inspection'' for the phrase " “investigative
visits to enployers.'' Accord Field Manual, |11-12 (as to "~ “inspections'').
Agent Pierce attributed his inconsistent <characterization of the
post - Decenber 11 activity to "~ “ninor semantics or phraseology.'' Tr. 237.
None of the post-Decenber 11 activity is inconsistent with a further
i nvestigation subsequent to a concluded i nspection.

Prior to this proceeding, INS had not shared the field nmanuals with
the public.* Upon request by counsel for Big Bear, following ny in canera
review and subsequent overruling of the governnment's objection to full
di scl osure, selected portions of the draft and revised versions of the
field manual relevant to inspections and investigations in enployer
sanctions enforcement were spread on the record.

*I NS has subsequently rel eased substantial portions of itsRevised Field Manual .
See Interpreter Releases Vol. 65 No. 47, Decenmber 12, 1988, pp. 1283-85.
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Nothing in the field nanuals is inconsistent with the position of

the Service that “°. . . this inspection had been conpl eted on Decenber
11th but investigation continued to properly prepare this case in order
to determne if a Notice of Intent to Fine should issue.'' Covt Brief,
21-22.

At least until this case was heard, and the field manual s, draft and
revi sed, made available in pertinent part, di stinctions between
investigations and inspections were not readily apparent to the
uninitiated. Now that the Revised Field Manual currently in effect has
becone substantially public, the relatively nore sophisticated
understandi ng  of Service personnel as to differences between
i nvestigations and i nspections nay be expected to becone commonpl ace.

It is my judgment that what took place on Decenber 11, 1987,
constituted an inspection both because that is what INS and respondent
understood it to be and, al so because comopn usage of the term connotes
that is what it was. As such, it was over when the agents departed Big
Bear's corporate office that day.

After the inspection on Decenber 11, 1987, Border Patrol agents
conpi | ed data, obtained additional docunents and continued to review the
case files to deternmine whether an NF should issue. This continuing
activity was in nmy view an investigation as that term is comonly
understood. Big Bear was obliged to have come into conpliance wth
enpl oynent verification requirenents on the day the agents arrived to
conduct the inspection after having provided due notice of their
anticipated visit.

| RCA i nposes on enployers a duty to prepare and present enpl oynent
verification fornms. It 1is reasonable that inplenenting regulations
require enployers to denonstrate conpliance when duly notified. 8 CF. R
8 274a.2(b)(2). An ensuing investigation provides no defense to an
enpl oyer who was not in conpliance at the tinme set for inspection.
Production of 1-9s by Big Bear on January 7, 1988, in response to
subpoena or otherw se, does not relieve it fromliability for failure to
be in conpliance on the date of the inspection.

Nor does it provide sustenance to respondent that, as recalled by
Tol ner and MacVean, Agent Pierce on January 28, 1988, nmay have suggested
that no penalty would result fromBig Bear's |-9 practices as found by
the agents. On that date INS obtained from MacVean an acknow edgnent of
certain 1-9 ““errors or omssions'' during the Decenber 11, 1987
" Conpliance Investigation,'' during the Decenber 11, 1987 " Conpliance
I nvestigation,'' and Pierce signed-off that certain |1-9s had now been
corrected. Exh. G to Attachnent A According to Tolner, Pierce at that
tinme said °° . . . there will be no fine," '' Tr. 429. MucVean testified
that he probably
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woul d not have signed the letter without first consulting his counsel if
Pierce had indicated that there might have been a fine. See id. at 452,
453. |If Pierce gave such assurances, the governnent is not bound by them
| am unaware of any authority to support an estoppel arising out of such
remar ks, and do not understand why the circunstances before ne argue for
such a result, considering that culpability for the violations dates to
Decenber 11, 1987, not to January, 1988.

D. The constitutionality issue

Big Bear, by affirmative defenses and on brief, attacks both | RCA
and the INS inplementing regulations as unconstitutional. The argunent
is that they are void for vagueness, uncertainty and anbiguity in
violation of the Due Process Cause by failing to prescribe the
affirmative steps expected of enployers to correct deficiencies
identified in a citation, and for failing to fix a tine certain to take
corrective action. It is contended also that, as a penal statute, |RCA
nmust be strictly construed. As such, it is urged that section 101 should
not be enlarged to perfect the defects of onission, i.e., failure to
i nform an enpl oyer of both what was expected of it follow ng receipt of
acitation and a tinmefrane in which to conply.

In reply, INS nmarshals case law to the effect that °° .
adm nistrative tribunals do not have authority to rule on the
constitutionality of the law and regul ations'' which they enforce. Govt
Brief, 27. |INS urges, nonetheless, that “~°. . . the statute and
regul ations are clear on what an enployer's obligations are, providing
specific provisions on what the enployer has to do and what the
enpl oyer's responsibilities enconpass.'' Govt Reply Brief, 9.

Respondent has failed to persuade that as an enployer it might not
have reasonably anticipated liability for paperwork violations, before
and after the Decenber 11, 1987 inspection. The explanatory page of the
Citation nakes clear an enployer's potential liability. The authorities
cited by respondent are not dispositive. See e.qg.. Village of Hoffnan
Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates. Inc.., 455 U S. 489, 497, 102 S.Ct
1186, 1193 (1982) which, although cited by Big Bear, makes clear that:

A law that does not reach constitutionally protected conduct and therefore
satisfies the overbreadth test may neverthel ess be challenged on its face as unduly
vague, in violation of due process. To succeed, however, the conplainant nust
dermonstrate that the lawis inpermissibly vague in all of its applications.

Big Bear does not suggest that 8 US C 8§ 1324a(a)(1)(B) is
““inpermssibly vague in all of its applications.'' |d.

I do not agree that either section 101 or the inplenenting
regul ations lack readily ascertai nable or sufficiently definite neaning.
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Clearly, hindsight inplies omiscience. Virtually any law invites
i mprovenent. Neither the statute nor the regulations are so defective as
not to fairly apprise enployers of their post-citation conpliance
obligations. Accordingly, | agree with INS on the nerits of its argunent
on this score. Strict constructionist or not, but consistent even wth
t he philosophy of those authorities which would construe narrowy the
powers delegated by Congress to this departnent to interpret and
adm nister IRCA, | do not find the statute wanting on its face, or as
appl i ed here.

On the question of power to inquire into the constitutionality of
an agency's statute or regul atory underpinni ngs, the general proposition
stated by INS has case support. However, the District of Colunbia
Circuit, as recently as February, 1988, in an opinion upholding refusal
of the Federal Maritime Commission to entertain a constitutiona
challenge to certain tariffs, provided an instructive commentary.
Pl aquenmi nes Port, Harbor and Terminal District v. FF.MC , 838 F.2d 536
(D.C. Cir. 1988). The court, Bork, J., stated:

It was entirely correct for the FMC to decline to decide the tonnage cl ause
issue, see, e.q., Mtor & Equip. Mrs. Ass'n v. EPA, 627 F.2d 1095, 1114-15 (D.C
Cir. 1979), on the ground that the federal courts provide nore appropriate foruns
for constitutional claims. NOSA Order, 23 SRR (P & F) at 1372-73. Admnistrative
agencies are entitled to pass on constitutional clainms but they are not required
to do so nerely because their nenbers, like all government personnel, owe
al l egiance to the Constitution. Mdtor & Equip. Mrs. Ass'n, 627 F.2d at 1115. But
cf. Meredith v. FCC 809 F.2d 863 (D.C. Gir. 1987) (where agency itself has cast
grave | egal doubt on the constitutionality of its own policy, admnistrative |aw
judge shoul d consider constitutional defense in an enforcenent proceeding).

Id. at 544.

I'V. Cvil noney penalties

As appears fromthe foregoing discussion, it is nmy judgment that Big
Bear has violated 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(a)(1)(B) as alleged by INS wth
respect to 135 individuals, as to 132 of whomthere were no Forns -9 and
as to three of whomthe 1-9s were inconplete as a matter of law, on the
date of a duly notices inspection, i.e., Decenber 11, 1987. Having found

cul pability, | amrequired by IRCA to assess civil noney penalties ~"in
an amount of not less than $100 and not nore than $1,000 for each
i ndi vidual with respect to whom such violation occurred.'' 8 US. C §

1324a(e) (5).

The INS proposed in the NIF, and has not varied from $200 per
i ndi vidual with respect to whom a violation was alleged. The record is
i nfornmed, however, of the basis on which the Service selected that sum
fromthe range of options available only by the reninder that respondent
enpl oys as many as 1400 people and that the Service mght have, but did
not, allege alnbst twi ce as many
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violations as those in the NIF. | amobliged, in determ ning the quantum
of penalty to consider the size of the enployer's business, the good
faith of the enployer, the seriousness of the violation, whether the
i ndi vidual s involved were unauthorized aliens, and the history, if any,
of prior violations.

The record is silent as to whether any of the 135 individuals were
unaut hori zed aliens. | amunable to specul ate whether INS refrained from
all eging unlawful enploynent charges or whether there were none to
prosecute. For the purpose of determning an appropriate penalty,
therefore, it nmust be assuned that none of the individuals were
unaut hori zed.

These were the first violations alleged subsequent to the Cctober
5, 1987 Citation. Because | RCA prohibits proceedi ngs based on viol ations
alleged in a citation, | amunable to find that there is a history of
previous violations; this is the only proceeding involving alleged
viol ations by Big Bear subsequent to issuance of the Citation

It follows that the only criteria for consideration are Big Bear's
size, its good faith, and the seriousness of the violations.

In absolute nunbers, a payroll of 1400 is not snall, but neither
does it place respondent anpng the | arger enployers in the nation

Good faith although not established beyond all doubt is
substantially shown, to ny satisfaction, by the candid adm ssion that
failure to correct the onission of 1-9s for the 183 individuals accounted
for initem1l of the Citation was inadvertent. The failure to prepare |-
9s for 132 of those 183 individuals was not deliberate, for all that
appears. The defective 1-9s involved failure in two instances by the
enpl oyer to date the enployer certification, and in the third, om ssion
of a nunber for the docunent to establish identity (1-9 List B) and entry
of a social security nunber for a birth certificate to establish
enpl oynent eligibility (1-9 List . Wile not indicative of good faith,
neither do they reflect callousness. To the extent that good faith is the

obverse of bad faith, |I find carel essness, and not disdain or such gross
di sregard of the enpl oyer sanctions program as to inply mal evol ence, a
determi nation which is, in all, tantanmount to good faith.

As to seriousness, while an aggregati on of 135 paperwork viol ations
is not to be mninized, they nust be considered in the context of such
viol ati ons standing al one, unacconpani ed by charges of unauthorized alien
enpl oynent .

On bal ance, considering only the range of options between $100 per

i ndi vi dual and the $200 selected by INS, | gauge $100 per individual to
be just and reasonabl e.
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V. Utinmte findings, conclusions, and order

I have considered the pleadings, testinmony, evidence, nenoranda
briefs, argunents, proposed findings of fact and conclusions of |aw
submtted by the parties. Accordingly, and in addition to the findings
and conclusions already nentioned, | make the follow ng determnations,
findings of fact, and concl usions of |aw

1. As previously discussed, | determ ne, upon the preponderance of
t he evidence, that respondent violated 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(a)(1)(B)

a. By failing as of Decenber 11, 1987, having received due notice
of an enploynent verification conpliance inspection to be held at its
corporate office that date, to prepare Fornms 1-9 for 132 individuals each
of whomwas identified in the conplaint in this proceeding and was hired
by Big Bear after Novenber 6, 1986, and who continued as enpl oyees after
May 31, 1988.

b. By failing to properly conplete Forns -9 presented to the
I mm gration and Naturalization Service on Decenber 11, 1987, for three
enpl oyees each of whom as identified in the conplaint, was hired by Big
Bear after May 31, 1987: those for Marcella Harris and Roger Kifer, both
being undated by the enployer in the signature block provided, were
i nconpl ete; and that for Angel Sarm ento, |acking a docunent nunber for
the list B docunent at Section 2 and not having a properly recorded
docunment for list C, instead identifying a birth certificate but
contai ning an apparent social security nunber, was inconplete.

c. As to all 135 enployees, Big Bear failed to satisfy statutory
enpl oynent verification requirenents in violation of 8 USC §
1324a(a)(1)(B) and 8 CF. R § 274a.2(hb).

2. That those violations were charged subsequent to receipt by
respondent of an October 5, 1987 Citation which constitutes a condition
precedent to a proceeding such as this one with respect to violations
all eged to have occurred during the period June 1, 1987 through May 31,
1988.

3. That once a citation is provided to an enployer which indicates
that a violation of 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a may have occurred during the period
June 1, 1987 through May 31, 1988, proceedings such as this one may be
initiated without regard to whether the individuals as to whom the
violations are alleged or the conduct alleged to have been in violation
is identical to the individuals or the conduct alleged in the precedent
citation.

4, That in conpliance with all statutory and regul atory inperatives,

the Service provided tinely prior notice to respondent of the inspection

to be held on Decenber 11, 1987, but any failure by respondent to have
received or perceived such notice was without prejudice to it.
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5. That fromdelivery of the Citation on Cctober 5, 1987 to the date
of the inspection, Decenmber 11, 1987, was a sufficiently reasonable
period of time for respondent to have cone into conpliance with the
enpl oynent verification requirements by having conpleted Forns 1-9 for
all the individuals included in paragraph 1, supra. and identified in the
conpl ai nt as enpl oyees.

6. That as an enployer, Big Bear was obliged to be in conpliance at
the tinme of the inspection, Decenber 11, 1987, whether or not
i nvestigation continued thereafter; conpliance, if any, subsequent to
that date is not material to the question of culpability as of the date
of the schedul ed inspection

7. That the obligation of Big Bear as an enployer to conply with the
enpl oynent verification system being continuous, liability for
nonconpl i ance i s continuous al so.

8. That the governnent is not estopped from obtaining an appropriate
order in this proceeding by any statenent a Border Patrol agent night be
understood to have nade to Big Bear personnel subsequent to Decenber 11
1987, i.e., on January 28, 1988.

9. That neither 8 U S.C. § 1324a nor the inplenenting regulations
inplicated in this proceeding at title 8 Code of Federal Regul ations are
unconsti tuti onal

10. That, wupon consideration of the statutory «criteria for
determ ning the anmount of the penalty for violation of 8 US C §
1324a(a)(1)(B), it is just and reasonable to require Big Bear to pay a
civil noney penalty in the anbunt of $100.00 for each of 135 violations
as found above, for a total assessnent of $13, 500. 00.

11. That, pursuant to 8 U . S.C. § 1324a(e)(6) and as provided at 28
CF.R 8§ 68.52, this decision and order shall becone the final decision
and order of the Attorney General unless within thirty (30) days from
this date it shall have been nodified or vacated by the Chief
Adm ni strative Hearing Oficer

SO ORDERED.

Dated this 30th day of March, 1989.

MARVI N H. MORSE
Adm ni strative Law Judge
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